
A/CN.4/SR.2775

Summary record of the 2775th meeting

Extract from the Yearbook of the International Law Commission:-

2003

Document:-

vol. I,

Topic:
<multiple topics>

Copyright © United Nations

Downloaded from the web site of the International Law Commission 
(http://www.un.org/law/ilc/index.htm)



 2775th meeting—�5 July 2003 �63

2775th MEETING

Tuesday, 15 July 2003, at 10 a.m.

Chair: Mr. enrique candioti

Present: Mr. addo, Mr. Brownlie, Mr. chee, Mr. 
daoudi, Mr. dugard, Mr. economides, Ms. escarameia, 
Mr. Fomba, Mr. Gaja, Mr. Galicki, Mr. kabatsi, Mr. 
kamto, Mr. kateka, Mr. kemicha, Mr. kolodkin, Mr. 
koskenniemi, Mr. Mansfield, Mr. Matheson, Mr. 
Melescanu, Mr. Momtaz, Mr. niehaus, Mr. Pambou-
tchivounda, Mr. sreenivasa Rao, Mr. Rodríguez cedeño, 
Mr. sepúlveda, Ms. Xue, Mr. Yamada.

Cooperation with other bodies (continued)*

[agenda item 11]

visit by the presiDent oF the international 
court oF Justice

1. the cHaiR welcomed the President of the inter-
national court of Justice and invited him to address the 
commission. Judge shi Jiuyong had himself served on 
the commission from 1987 to 1993 and was thus familiar 
with the commission’s work. 

2. Mr. sHi (President of the international court of 
Justice) said the court was most appreciative of the fact 
that exchanges of views with the commission had be-
come customary, and it was a particular pleasure for him 
to return to the very room where he had sat as a member 
of the commission between 1987 and 1993, and as chair 
in 1990. 

3. the court was the principal judicial organ of the 
United nations, with the function of deciding disputes 
between states in accordance with international law, 
whereas the commission was charged with the codifica-
tion and progressive development of international law. 
the link between the two spoke for itself. Both contrib-
uted to the strengthening of international law. there was, 
moreover, interaction between the two bodies at every 
level. some commission members appeared regularly be-
fore the court as counsel or agents of parties, bringing to 
bear not only their advocacy skills but also their valuable 
knowledge of the commission’s work, which in turn nour-
ished the court’s deliberations. More important still was 
the fact that, since the election to the court of sir Benegal 
Rau in 1952, members of the commission had regularly 
been elected to sit as judges of the court. two had been 
elected in october 2002, with the result that, of the cur-
rent 15 Judges, 7 were former members of the commis-
sion. Furthermore, several members of the commission 
had served as judges ad hoc in cases before the court.

4. the close relationship between the two was com-
pleted by the profound respect and consideration shown 
by each for the other’s work. While the commission sys-
tematically referred to the judgements of the court in its 
codification enterprise, the court had similar recourse to 
the commission’s work to determine the content of the 
law or interpret various rules of international law. if the 
commission’s work was only a subsidiary means of de-
termining international law, according to article 38 of the 
statute of the international court of Justice, its very high 
quality had undoubtedly made it one of the most reliable, 
and relied upon, of those subsidiary means.

5. the first occasion on which the court had referred to 
the commission’s work was in its judgments on the North 
Sea Continental Shelf case in 1969, when it had had re-
course to the commission’s discussions on the question 
of delimitation between adjacent states to determine the 
status of the principle of equidistance embodied in article 
6 of the 1958 convention on the continental shelf. the 
commission’s work on the law of the sea had subsequent-
ly been used by the court on several occasions, in the 
Fisheries Jurisdiction (United Kingdom v. Iceland) case, 
the Continental Shelf (Tunisia/Libyan Arab Jamahiriya) 
case and the Delimitation of the Marine Boundary in the 
Gulf of Maine Area case.

6. the commission’s work had also been useful to the 
court in many other areas. in the Kasikili/Sedudu Island 
case, and more recently in the Land and Maritime Bound-
ary between Cameroon and Nigeria case, the court had 
used the commission’s work to interpret various provi-
sions of the 1969 Vienna convention. in the Military and 
Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua case, the 
court had used the commission’s work to confirm the cus-
tomary status of the principle of the prohibition of the use 
of force embodied in article 2, paragraph 4, of the char-
ter of the United nations. article 12 of the 1978 Vienna 
convention had similarly been found by the court to be 
customary, notably on the basis of the commentary on ar- 
ticle 12 of the draft articles on succession of states in re-
spect of treaties adopted by the commission at its twenty-
sixth session,1 in the Gabčíkovo-Nagymaros Project case. 
and, in the Marine Delimitation and Territorial Questions 
between Qatar and Bahrain case, the commission’s work 
had been used to confirm the definition of arbitration.

7. it was in the domain of state responsibility, more than 
any other, that the potential complementarity between the 
work of the court and of the commission had best been 
illustrated. the commission’s codification of the rules of 
state responsibility had been an invaluable guide to the 
court when it had dealt with complex issues such as that 
in the Gabčíkovo-Nagymaros Project case. the court had 
referred extensively to the draft articles on state responsi-
bility adopted by the commission on first reading2 and to 
the accompanying commentary to interpret the notion of 
the state of necessity, to distinguish between a wrongful 
act itself and acts of a preparatory character, and to deter-
mine the conditions for lawful resort to countermeasures. 

1 Yearbook … 1974, vol. ii (Part one), p. 197, para. 2 of the 
commentary.

2 For the text of the draft articles provisionally adopted by the 
commission on first reading, see Yearbook … 1996, vol. ii (Part two), 
chap. iii, sect. d, pp. 58–65.

* Resumed from the 2764th meeting.



�64 Summary records of the second part of the fifty-fifth session

in doing so, it had not simply taken note of the commis-
sion’s work but had, in its turn, reinforced the value of 
the draft articles by declaring some of the principles con-
tained therein as being of a customary nature; and it had 
done so some four years before the adoption of the draft 
on second reading3 or before the General assembly took 
note of the draft articles.4 the recognition of the status of 
the draft articles had been further confirmed two years 
later in the advisory opinion in the case concerning the 
Difference Relating to Immunity from Legal Process of a 
Special Rapporteur of the Commission on Human Rights, 
when the court had declared that the principle of attribu-
tion to the state of the conduct of its organs, reflected in 
the then article 6 (subsequently article 4) of the draft arti-
cles, possessed a customary character.

8. there had been important changes at the court over 
the past year. three new members had been elected—
Judge tomka from slovakia, Judge simma from Germany 
and Judge owada from Japan—and the first two had been 
members of the commission. Judge koroma and he him-
self had been re-elected. 

9. since Judge Guillaume had addressed the commis-
sion at the previous session, the court had rendered a final 
judgment in three cases and ordered provisional measures 
in two others. the total number of 24 cases on the court’s 
docket remained the same, however, since three new cases 
had been filed with the court over the past 10 months, a 
sure sign of its vitality and the trust placed in it by states. 

10. the court had handed down judgment in the case 
concerning the Land and Maritime Boundary between 
Cameroon and Nigeria (Cameroon v. Nigeria: Equato-
rial Guinea intervening). in 1994, cameroon had seized 
the court of a legal dispute with nigeria in respect of sov-
ereignty over the Bakassi peninsula. it had subsequently 
widened the scope of its application, requesting the court 
to determine the land boundary between the two states 
from Lake chad to the sea and to delimit their respec-
tive maritime areas. it had also claimed reparation from 
nigeria on account of damage suffered as a result of the 
occupation of Bakassi and Lake chad and of various bor-
der incidents. nigeria had responded by raising eight pre-
liminary objections on the grounds of lack of jurisdic-
tion and inadmissibility, which the court had addressed 
in a judgment of 11 June 1998. nigeria had gone on to 
submit a request for interpretation of that judgment (Re-
quest for Interpretation of the Judgment of 11 June 1998 
in the Case concerning the Land and Maritime Bound-
ary between cameroon and nigeria), on which the court 
had ruled on 25 March 1999. nigeria had then submitted 
counterclaims and equatorial Guinea an application for 
permission to intervene, whose admissibility the court 
had had to address.

11. the court had held that treaties concluded during 
the colonial period, whose validity it confirmed, had fixed 
the boundary between cameroon and nigeria. in conse-
quence, it had decided that, pursuant to the agreement 
between Great Britain and Germany respecting (1) the 
settlement of the Frontier between nigeria and the cam-
eroons, from Yola to the sea, and (2) the Regulation of 

3 see 2751st meeting, footnote 3.
4 General assembly resolution 56/83 of 12 december 2001, para. 3.

navigation on the cross River,5 sovereignty over Bakassi 
lay with cameroon. it had also determined the boundary 
in the Lake chad area in accordance with the exchange of 
notes between the United kingdom and France respecting 
the boundary between the British and French spheres of 
the cameroons Mandated territory6 and rejected niger-
ia’s claims in that area. the court had also defined the 
precise line of the approximately 1,500-kilometre land 
boundary between the two states in 17 other disputed sec-
tors. it had gone on to determine the maritime boundary 
between the two states, taking into account the interests of 
third parties, including those of equatorial Guinea, which 
had intervened in the oral proceedings. the court had be-
gun by affirming the validity of the second declaration of 
Yaoundé7 and the Maroua declaration,8 whereby, in 1971 
and 1975, the Heads of state of cameroon and nigeria 
had agreed on the maritime boundary separating the ter-
ritorial seas of the two states. With regard to the maritime 
boundaries farther out to sea, the court had adopted as 
the delimitation the equidistance line between cameroon 
and nigeria, which appeared to produce equitable results 
as between the two states. Finally, it had held that each 
state was under an obligation expeditiously and uncon-
ditionally to withdraw its administration and military and 
police forces from areas falling within the sovereignty of 
the other.

12. in december 2002, the court had concluded the 
proceedings between indonesia and Malaysia in the case 
concerning Sovereignty over Pulau Ligitan and Pulau 
Sipadan. in its judgment, the court had found that arti- 
cle iV of the 1891 convention between Great Britain and 
the netherlands defining Boundaries in Borneo9 for the 
purpose of defining the boundaries between the nether-
lands possessions in the island of Borneo and the states in 
that island which were under British protection did not es-
tablish any allocation line between the parties in the area 
of the islands, and that none of the parties had obtained ti-
tle over the islands by succession. the court had therefore 
relied on effectivities claimed by the parties and found 
that sovereignty over Pulau Ligitan and Pulau sipadan lay 
with Malaysia.

13. the court’s most recent judgment had been in the 
case of the Application for Revision of the Judgment of 
11 July 1996 in the Case concerning application of the 
convention on the Prevention and Punishment of the 
crime of Genocide (Bosnia and Herzegovina v. Yugosla-
via), Preliminary objections (Yugoslavia v. Bosnia and 
Herzegovina). the court had recalled, first, that under 
article 61 of its statute, a revision could be requested by 
a party only upon discovery of a new fact, namely a fact 
that had existed at the time the judgment had been given 
but had been unknown to the court and to the party claim-
ing revision. the court had determined that a fact that 

5 London, 11 March 1913 (treaty series no. 13 (1913) (London, H. 
M. stationery office), p. 231).

6 London, 9 January 1931 (ibid., no. 34 (1931) (London, H. M. 
stationery office), p. 1).

7 icJ, Application Instituting Proceedings of 29 March 1994, Land 
and Maritime Boundary between Cameroon and Nigeria (Cameroon v. 
Nigeria) case, annex 7.

8 United nations, Treaty Series, vol. 1237, no. 19976, p. 319.
9 London, 20 June 1891 (British and Foreign State Papers, 1890–

1891, vol. 83 (London, H. M. stationery office, 1897), p. 42).



 2775th meeting—�5 July 2003 �65

occurred several years after a judgment had been given 
was not “new” within the meaning of article 61. the 
admission of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia to the 
United nations10 had occurred in november 2000, well 
after the 1996 judgment. the court had accordingly found 
the application of the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia in-
admissible.

14. the court had also handed down orders for the indi-
cation of provisional measures in two cases filed over the 
past year. in the case concerning Avena and Other Mexi-
can Nationals, Mexico had initiated proceedings against 
the United states regarding alleged violations of articles 5 
and 36 of the Vienna convention on consular Relations, 
with respect to 54 Mexican nationals who had been sen-
tenced to death in certain states of the United states. on 
5 February 2003, the court had indicated to the United 
states that it must “take all measures necessary” [pp. 91–
92] to ensure that three Mexican nationals, for whom it 
found that the condition of urgency had been met, were 
not executed, pending a final judgment of the court. it 
had also stated that the United states Government should 
inform it of all measures taken in implementation of that 
order and decided to remain seized of the matters form-
ing the subject of the order until it had rendered its final 
judgment.

15. in the case concerning Certain Criminal Proceed-
ings in France, Republic of the congo had filed an appli-
cation instituting proceedings against France seeking an 
annulment of the investigation and prosecution measures 
taken by the French judicial authorities further to a com-
plaint concerning crimes against humanity and torture al-
legedly committed in congo against individuals having 
congolese nationality, filed by various human rights asso-
ciations against the President, the Minister of the interior 
and other individuals, including the inspector-General of 
the congolese armed forces and the commander of the 
Presidential Guard. on 17 June 2003, the court had found 
that the circumstances were not such as to require the ex-
ercise of its power under article 41 of its statute to indi-
cate a provisional measure and rejected congo’s request. 
in its application, congo had indicated that it proposed to 
found the jurisdiction of the court, pursuant to article 38, 
paragraph 5, of the Rules of the court, “on the consent 
of the French Republic, which will certainly be given” 
[p. 103]. it had therefore been only France’s consent, on 
8 april 2003, to the court’s jurisdiction to entertain the 
application that had made it possible to open the proceed-
ings. the case was exceptional in that it was the first time 
since the adoption of article 38, paragraph 5, in 1978 that 
a state had accepted, without prior special agreement, the 
invitation of another state to recognize the court’s juris-
diction to entertain a case directed against it. 

16. the court had also taken a number of other deci-
sions with which he would not burden the commission. 
He would mention only that the court had acceded to the 
request of the parties to form special chambers of five 
judges to deal with the case concerning the Frontier Dis-
pute (Benin/Niger) case and the case concerning Applica-
tion for Revision of the Judgment of 11 September 1992 in 
the Case concerning the Land, island and Maritime Fron-

10 General assembly resolution 55/12 of 1 november 2000.

tier dispute (el salvador/Honduras: nicaragua interven-
ing) (El Salvador v. Honduras).

17. the court’s docket remained heavily burdened, and a 
number of cases were, or would shortly be, ready for hear-
ing. the court would therefore have to maintain its high 
level of activity. the Oil Platforms case was currently at 
the deliberations stage. Hearings would also be organized 
in several other cases before the end of the calendar year. 
the court was considering ways and means of improving 
its working methods so as to ensure timely and efficient 
exercise of its judicial functions.

18. the court and the commission, in performing their 
respective tasks, each had to be constantly aware of the 
work accomplished by the other. the commission’s pro-
gramme of work for the current session was heavy, and 
many of the items on the agenda were of the highest rel-
evance for several cases on the court’s docket, including 
diplomatic protection, reservations to treaties, unilateral 
acts of states, the responsibility of international organiza-
tions, and others. the fragmentation of international law 
was also of interest. He assured the commission that the 
court would remain as attentive to its work as it had al-
ways been. 

19. Finally, he congratulated the commission on the fact 
that its proceedings were conducted in all the six official 
languages of the United nations, whereas he had been 
obliged to make his statement in english because the of-
ficial languages of the court were, for historical reasons, 
restricted to english and French. 

20. the cHaiR thanked the President of the court for 
his very interesting statement and the useful information 
on the appointment of new judges, interaction between 
the commission and the court, the latter’s judgments, its 
docket and its official languages.

21. Mr. BRoWnLie asked whether the oral arguments 
presented to the court were of value.

22. Mr. sHi (President of the international court of 
Justice) said that the oral statements of the parties’ coun-
sel helped members of the court greatly in their delib-
erations, especially in cases like that concerning the Land 
and Maritime Boundary between Cameroon and Nigeria 
(Preliminary Objections), where counsel for nigeria had 
raised eight points regarding jurisdiction and admissibil-
ity that had been argued so well and so forcefully that the 
members had spent long hours in closed session analysing 
those thought-provoking contentions.

23. the oral sittings proved tiring for elderly judges, but 
they afforded an opportunity to cover ground not dealt 
with in the written pleadings. For that reason, the mem-
bers of the court always read the minutes of the oral sub-
missions with great care. the oral arguments of counsel 
were therefore heeded and were most valuable.

24. Ms. escaRaMeia said that the presentation of 
the substantive connection between the commission and 
the court had been very informative. since the fragmen-
tation of international law was a very real problem, she 
wished to know whether there were any contacts between 
icJ, itLos, the ad hoc criminal tribunals and the inter-
national criminal court. Had such exchanges been dis-



�66 Summary records of the second part of the fifty-fifth session

cussed in icJ? Had the latter invited the presidents of 
the other courts to describe their work, or would such a 
move detract from a court’s independence and autonomy? 
Would such links foster an awareness of the difficulties 
encountered by each judicial body?

25. Mr. sHi (President of the international court of Jus-
tice) said that the members of icJ were concerned about 
the fragmentation of international law. to date, there had 
been no contacts between the various specialized judicial 
bodies, although it was indeed vital to arrive at a uniform 
interpretation of certain points of international law. the 
members of the court had not discussed the matter for-
mally, although they had exchanged views on the subject 
behind the scenes.

26. some of the courts in question were not part of the 
United nations system, while others were subsidiary or-
gans of the security council. nevertheless, it would be 
helpful if the General assembly were to adopt a resolution 
indicating how to deal with the fragmentation of interna-
tional law in international judicial bodies, some of which 
held differing views on specific legal issues.

27. Judge Guillaume, former President of the court, 
had written a number of essays on the topic in which he 
had suggested that the court, as the principal judicial or-
gan of the United nations, which considered all kinds of 
questions in the sphere of private and public international 
law, might give advisory opinions to other judicial bodies 
in the event of differences of interpretation. in the General 
assembly, however, some states had rejected that idea on 
the grounds that it would turn the court into an appeal 
body and the international community, as a whole, was 
not yet ready to accept such a step.

28. Mr. sreenivasa Rao said it was gratifying that the 
President of the court had mentioned the productive inter- 
active relationship between the court and the commis- 
sion. the workload and the complexity of the cases 
brought before the court called for continuous adjust-
ment and methodological reforms on its part. in that con-
nection, the value of oral pleadings must be enhanced by 
introducing greater informality into them so they were no 
longer merely a repetition of the contents of written sub-
missions, but became lively exchanges which would allow 
the court to reach the crux of an argument.

29. the court, other international judicial bodies and 
the commission should contribute to the harmonious 
interpretation of legal issues in order to overcome the 
fragmentation of international law. in the beginning, sev-
eral opinions might exist, but, as time went by, dissenting 
opinions often became the view of the majority. it was 
quite a normal process, and a creative means of fostering 
it must be found.

30. Mr. sePÚLVeda said that Judge shi’s descrip-
tion of the links between the court and the commission 
had been of particular interest to him, especially in the 
light of the Planning Group’s recent discussion of rela-
tions between the sixth committee and the commission. 
at times, those two bodies, both of which had important 
legal functions, seemed to be disconnected, although, ad-
mittedly, the sixth committee focused more on the politi-

cal aspects of issues, whereas the commission’s concerns 
were predominantly of a legal nature.

31. Judge shi had drawn attention to the fact that the 
participation of members of the commission as counsel 
in cases being heard by the court raised the commission’s 
profile and that the opinions of the commission, because 
of their soundness, served as a basis for the court’s deci-
sions and judgments. in addition, some members of the 
commission went on to become judges at the court. the 
discussion which had just taken place had served to em-
phasize the intrinsic importance of the commission. 

32. the President of the court, as a former representa-
tive in the sixth committee, no doubt knew what sort of 
links should exist between the sixth committee and the 
commission. His presence at the commission meeting 
had underlined the high esteem in which the commis-
sion’s members were held as they strove to achieve a bet-
ter legal order.

33. Mr. MoMtaZ asked what difficulties the court 
encountered in the exercise of its judicial functions and 
whether it was contemplating any revision of its Rules.

34. Mr. sHi (President of the international court of Jus-
tice) said that, since the court dealt with disputes between 
states, it had to respect the sovereign equality of those 
states and, as a result, had to allow them enough time 
to prepare their cases. it meant that well over two years 
could elapse between the submission of the original appli-
cation, or the notification of a special agreement, and the 
presentation of replies and rejoinders in response to the 
parties’ memorials and counter-memorials. that written 
stage was then followed by oral hearings for which some 
parties’ agents required an additional five to six weeks of 
preparation.

35. once the written pleadings were submitted and the 
oral hearings finished, the internal judicial procedure be-
gan. Before the formal deliberations in chamber, and in 
order to ensure the quality of the court’s judgments, each 
member had to write what were called notes and were 
in fact preliminary judgments, addressing all the legal is-
sues. Usually the drafting of the notes took about a month 
and their translation another several weeks. they were 
then distributed to all members, and another week or so 
was allotted for them to be studied, after which the formal 
deliberations began.

36. those lasted a week on average, two weeks in particu- 
larly difficult cases, and then began the process of draft-
ing the court’s judgment. By the time the judgment was 
considered by the court on second reading, several more 
weeks would have passed and various revisions made. a 
formal vote was then taken, following which individual 
opinions could be written. Unlike officials of domestic 
courts, members of the court received very little assis- 
tance from law clerks, of which there were only five for 
the whole institution, and their recruitment had been au-
thorized only a year ago.

37. it was thus very clear that the court’s proceedings 
were extremely time- and labour-intensive. efforts could 
certainly be made to simplify the proceedings, but noth-
ing must be done that might diminish the quality of the 



 2775th meeting—�5 July 2003 �67

judgments, and the reasoning behind them must be very 
clearly explicated.

38. a number of changes aimed at improving internal 
judicial methods had been made: members were no longer 
required to write notes on preliminary objections in the 
jurisdiction/admissibility phase or on requests for provi-
sional measures, as long as the legal issues were not too 
complicated, and the court had taken steps to limit the 
duration of oral proceedings.

39. in short, any measures to streamline proceedings 
must be carried out in keeping with the principles of re-
spect for the sovereignty of states and preservation of the 
quality of the court’s judgments.

40. the cHaiR warmly thanked the President of the in-
ternational court of Justice on behalf of the commission 
for the very interesting information he had provided about 
the court’s functioning, which was valuable not only for 
the commission’s members but also for the members of 
the international Law seminar who were attending the 
meeting. He asked the President to convey to the members 
of the court the commission’s cordial greetings and its 
desire for further productive exchanges between the two 
bodies.

Mr. Melescanu (Vice-Chair) took the Chair.

Diplomatic protection�� (continued) (A/CN.4/529, 
sect. A, A/CN.4/530 and Add.�,�2 A/CN.4/L.63�)

[agenda item 3]

Fourth report oF the special rapporteur (continued)

41. Mr. GaLicki, referring to the recently issued ad-
dendum to the fourth report (a/cn.4/530 and add.1), 
said it had been prepared by the special Rapporteur with 
his usual competence, deep knowledge and openness. the 
title, “Proposed articles on diplomatic protection of cor-
porations and shareholders”, was somewhat misleading, 
since that was not the subject of the two draft articles con-
tained in the addendum. draft article 21, on lex specialis, 
excluded the application of some of the articles formu-
lated earlier but did not specify which ones. draft article 
22 dealt with diplomatic protection of legal persons other 
than corporations and their shareholders. it was to be in-
cluded in the third part, entitled “Legal persons”, and the 
technical question to be solved was proper correlation of 
the titles of the articles throughout that part.

42. the two new draft articles covered exceptions to 
the main rules formulated earlier in the draft, but each 
did so in its own way. article 21, based on the maxim lex 
specialis derogat legi generali, provided for the priority 
of special rules of international law where the protection 
of corporations or shareholders was governed by such 
rules. in paragraph 112, the special Rapporteur cited the 
opinion expressed by the commission in the commentary 

11 For the text of articles 1 to 7 of the draft articles on diplomatic 
protection and the commentaries thereto provisionally adopted by the 
commission at its fifty-fourth session, see Yearbook … 2002, vol. ii 
(Part two), chap. V, sect. c.

12 Reproduced in Yearbook ... 2003, vol. ii (Part one).

to article 55 of the draft articles on state responsibility 
for internationally wrongful acts13 that, for the principle 
lex specialis derogat legi generali to apply, there must be 
some actual inconsistency between two provisions or a 
discernible intention that one provision was to exclude the 
other. a requirement of actual inconsistency or discernible 
intention should perhaps be added to the text of article 21, 
thereby more precisely defining the scope of operation of 
lex specialis rules vis-à-vis general norms. a second as-
pect of article 55 on state responsibility was missing in 
article 21, namely that general articles should not apply 
solely “where” but also “to the extent that” the subject 
matter was governed by special rules of international law. 
that more extensively developed approach should be in-
corporated in the draft on diplomatic protection.

43. Mr. koskenniemi had rightly pointed out that the op-
eration of the lex specialis principle should not be limited 
to protection of corporations and shareholders but should 
be extended to other situations regulated by the draft ar-
ticles. the matter seemed to be of crucial importance, es-
pecially in the light of the commission’s parallel work on 
the fragmentation of international law, where lex specialis 
was one of the main problems analysed.

44. Paradoxically, while Mr. koskenniemi proposed 
a more extended formulation of the lex specialis prin-
ciple, Mr. Brownlie suggested that a separate provision 
on lex specialis might not be necessary. true, its appli-
cation to questions of diplomatic protection might derive 
from general principles of law. Yet even if one recognized 
the general nature of the lex specialis principle, in some 
situations like that of diplomatic protection, its practical 
application might require that additional particular rules 
be followed. article 55 of the draft on state responsibil-
ity likewise confirmed the usefulness of having specific 
regulations on lex specialis.

45. in view of the widely diverging proposals made, 
a cautious approach should be taken: the idea of having 
an individual provision on lex specialis should not be 
rejected in toto, yet the suggestion of not confining the 
application of article 21 to diplomatic protection of cor-
porations and shareholders seemed reasonable. examples 
could be found of the application of that principle to other 
legal persons and perhaps even to natural persons—for 
instance, the self-contained regime of liability for damage 
caused by space objects. He was therefore in favour of 
modifying article 21 and possibly placing it somewhere 
other than in the third part, to make it applicable in a more 
general way.

46. as to article 22, he supported the view expressed by 
the special Rapporteur in paragraph 113 that it was not 
possible to draft further articles dealing with the diplo-
matic protection of each kind of legal person. the main 
difficulty with the practical application of the article, as 
noted in paragraph 121, was the infinite variety of forms 
that legal persons could take. in general, the possibility 
of being registered as a legal person flowed from the in-
ternal legislation of the state, and the procedures and re-
quirements established by individual states varied widely. 
Paragraph 121 gave an excellent example of such differ-
entiation in the legal position of the european economic 

13 see 2751st meeting, footnote 3.



�68 Summary records of the second part of the fifty-fifth session

interest Grouping whereby, as the special Rapporteur 
rightly pointed out, the same types of entities, endowed 
with equal legal capacities by a uniform statute, could be 
granted legal personality in one european Union member 
state and left without it in another.

47. one must also be conscious of the growing number 
of creatures of municipal law, as paragraph 117 put it, that 
might be interested in benefiting from their status of legal 
persons. the unlimited, unilateral extension by individual 
states of legal personality to various entities might cre-
ate serious problems with the practical exercise of dip-
lomatic protection of such entities vis-à-vis other states 
which might not necessarily be eager to recognize such 
legal personality. even the very broad formula of mutatis 
mutandis application set out in article 22 did not seem to 
solve the problem. it might therefore be useful to include 
some sort of requirement of mutual recognition of legal 
personality of a given entity by the states concerned.

48. despite those remarks, he thought both draft articles 
were necessary, were based on thorough research and were 
a useful addition to the set of articles previously accepted 
by the commission. the draft articles, together with the 
comments made on them during the discussion, should 
therefore be referred to the drafting committee.

Mr. Candioti (Chair) resumed the Chair.

49. Mr. addo said he agreed with much of the special 
Rapporteur’s report. draft article 21, which stipulated that 
when a bilateral or multilateral investment treaty was in-
voked the rules of customary international law did not ap-
ply, was not only acceptable: it stated the obvious. He con-
curred with Mr. Brownlie that there was no real need for 
including it, but it caused no harm and could be retained 
ex abundanti cautela. it should therefore be referred to the 
drafting committee.

50. as for draft article 22, it would be nearly impossible 
to draft articles for each and every specific legal person. 
accordingly, use of the words mutatis mutandis was very 
apt. the phrase had become part of the vernacular, and 
there was no more succinct way of expressing the underly-
ing idea. that article too should be referred to the draft-
ing committee.

51. Mr. GaJa thanked the special Rapporteur for a 
thoughtful and useful addendum to his report that high-
lighted two questions. as to the first of those questions, 
he agreed with the special Rapporteur about the existence 
of many special rules on diplomatic protection. some 
excluded or deferred protection, providing a method for 
dispute settlement that gave the investor a direct role. oth-
ers modified the requirement of nationality of claims or 
derogated from the local remedies rule. While most main-
ly affected diplomatic protection of corporations or their 
shareholders, a provision on lex specialis should not, in his 
view, be limited to them. He concurred with Mr. Galicki 
on that point: such a provision should have a wider scope 
and be placed among the draft’s final provisions. if lex 
specialis was based solely on treaty provisions, however, 
a reference to it might not be necessary.

52. the Latin expression mutatis mutandis in draft ar-
ticle 22 was not, as was suggested in paragraph 123, a 

maxim. in a legal text, it would be better not to use expres-
sions in an unfamiliar language like Latin, and its equiva-
lent could be found in most languages. His main problem 
with the expression, however, was that it conveyed very 
little about the circumstances that would entail the appli-
cation of a different rule and about the contents of that 
rule. it therefore seemed preferable for a positive rule to 
be expressed with regard to legal persons other than cor-
porations. to that end, an analysis of state practice would 
be needed, and that, unfortunately, was missing from the 
addendum to the report.

53. He would tentatively suggest wording along the lines 
that the state entitled to exercise diplomatic protection 
of a legal person other than a corporation was the state 
under whose law the legal personality had been granted, 
provided that the place of management was located or reg-
istration took place on the territory of the same state. an 
appropriate formulation could be found by the drafting 
committee so as to establish some formal link between 
the basic attribution of legal personality and the state 
deemed entitled to exercise diplomatic protection.

54. Mr. cHee commended the special Rapporteur on 
the addendum to the fourth report. the description in 
paragraph 109 of the advantages of bilateral investment 
treaties and icsid for the current system of diplomatic 
protection under customary international law reflected the 
statement by icJ in the Barcelona Traction case. Further-
more, in view of the extensive state practice regarding 
bilateral investment treaties and icsid, it might be appro-
priate to conclude that article 21 was fit for codification. 
according to Verzijl, the frequency of a particular class of 
bilateral treaties or the constant repetition therein of a par-
ticular clause might in itself create a practice corroborated 
by general opinio juris.14 doehring also concluded that 
consistent treaty practice under certain conditions could 
effectively contribute to the formation of new law with 
regard to arbitration clauses.15 Moreover, article 15 of the 
commission’s statute stated that the expression “codifica-
tion” was used as meaning “the more precise formulation 
and systematization of rules of international law in fields 
where there already ha[d] been extensive state practice, 
precedent and doctrine”. it was well known that the codi-
fication effort was made on the grounds that written law 
was superior to customary law.

55. in connection with article 21 he would also draw 
attention to state practice regarding the “stabilization 
clause” in contracts between the foreign investor and the 
host state. it was an additional and effective device for 
protecting the foreign investor’s investment, had been 
upheld by several arbitral tribunals and commanded the 
support of distinguished jurists. that remark applied to bi-
lateral investment treaties between foreign investors from 
developed states and developing host states. However, it 
seemed that problems arose in connection with bilateral 
investment treaties between foreign investors and devel-
oped host states. it might be appropriate for the com-
mission to look into such problems in the light of the glo-
balized economy and the interdependence among states 
with respect to equitable economic relations.

14 J. H. W. Verzijl, International Law in Historical Perspective, vol. i 
(Leiden, sijthoff, 1968), p. 40.

15 doehring, loc. cit. (2774th meeting, footnote 7).



 2775th meeting—�5 July 2003 �69

56. He wished to withdraw his earlier suggestion to add 
the word “business” before “corporation” in draft arti-
cle 22, in view of the special Rapporteur’s explanation 
in paragraph 117. articles 21 and 22 were acceptable and 
should be referred to the drafting committee.

57. Mr. kateka commended the special Rapporteur 
on his report and echoed his remark about completing the 
topic within the five-year period. article 21 should apply 
generally to the whole set of articles on diplomatic protec-
tion and should not be confined to corporations alone. as 
Mr. Brownlie had suggested, it might not be necessary to 
have a provision on lex specialis. However, since a prec-
edent had been set in the draft articles on state responsi-
bility, there seemed to be no harm in incorporating such a 
provision in the present draft. Perhaps the General assem-
bly or a diplomatic conference would subsequently delete 
those provisions.

58. the title of article 22 should read “other legal per-
sons”, since that was what the article in fact dealt with. 
Furthermore, with reference to the last sentence of para-
graph 122, he failed to understand why it spoke of articles 
18 and 19, when most of the other legal persons concerned 
had no shareholders in the classical sense of company law. 
Finally, he was in favour of retaining the Latin expression 
mutatis mutandis.

59. Mr. MatHeson expressed gratitude for the warm 
welcome extended to him as a new member by the com-
mission and said he endorsed the remarks on the excellent 
quality of the report. as to article 21, he was in favour of 
specifying the application of lex specialis, although the 
commission could be flexible as to what form that should 
take. it was appropriate not only to make clear how the 
principle related to the draft article but also to recognize 
the very important regimes which applied in the area of 
protection of investment. He also had some sympathy 
with the alternative idea that the article could be broader 
in scope. the matter could be dealt with in the commen-
tary, but the commission would no doubt prefer it to be 
incorporated in the draft articles proper. 

60. as Mr. Brownlie had pointed out, certain parts of 
the report seemed too categorical in their description of 
the application of lex specialis. that was also true of the 
phrase in paragraph 108 that “customary law rules relat-
ing to diplomatic protection are excluded”. He suggested 
it would be more accurate to say that other regimes spe-
cifically derogated from customary law rules and would 
apply, but in other respects such rules would and did apply 
in arbitrations conducted in the area of diplomatic protec-
tion.

61. Mr. econoMides said that the lex specialis pro-
vision in article 21 should not be limited to corporations 
and their shareholders, but should also apply to natural 
persons who, for instance, acted under the terms of human 
rights treaties. the general provision should be placed at 
the end of the draft to cover all of the articles. He saw no 
reason why investment and human rights treaties should 
be excluded. in fact, the commission should accord pri-
ority to them instead of setting in motion the unwieldy, 
political procedure of diplomatic protection.

62. He pointed out that the lex specialis exclusion was 
not absolute, but conditional. although it would apply to 

investment or human rights treaties, in certain circum-
stances, such as where a contracting state failed to com-
ply with the judgment rendered, diplomatic protection 
could be reconsidered, as was indicated in the footnotes 
corresponding to the last sentence of the paragraph. the 
general provision should be drafted to reflect that situa-
tion. also, he agreed that the phrase “these articles do not 
apply” at the beginning of article 21 should be replaced by 
a more specific reference to the articles in question.

63. as far as draft article 22 was concerned, he endorsed 
the use of the Latin expression mutatis mutandis but ques-
tioned the use of the term “principles”, suggesting that 
“provisions” might be preferable. again, were all of arti-
cles 17 to 21 involved or only some of them? in his opin-
ion, articles 21 and 22 could be referred to the drafting 
committee.

64. Mr. dUGaRd (special Rapporteur) said that ini-
tially he had tended towards a narrow provision in article 
21 on the grounds that the most obvious lex specialis re-
lated to multilateral or bilateral investment treaties. How-
ever, there seemed to be support for a broader provision 
dealing not only with corporations but also with natural 
persons. He suggested, in order to expedite the proceed-
ings, that rather than continuing discussion on the subject 
in plenary, the drafting committee should be assigned the 
task of redrafting the provision.

65. the cHaiR recalled Mr. Gaja’s comments on the 
expression mutatis mutandis as well as the need to rec-
ognize other legal persons or establish some formal link 
between them and the state concerned by diplomatic pro-
tection.

66. Mr. GaJa said that to use the expression mutatis 
mutandis was an easy solution, but it was important to 
be clear as to its exact implications. With regard to article 
21, the commission had a precedent in the topic of state 
responsibility, where the theme of lex specialis had been 
developed. However, he was not certain that, according 
to article 55 of the draft articles on state responsibility, 
lex specialis necessarily referred to treaties. this provi-
sion could also refer to some areas of general interna-
tional law that were not covered by general rules. Perhaps 
a phrase to the effect that general rules might not cover 
all aspects of general international law would have been 
more appropriate. From the special Rapporteur’s explana-
tion he had understood that in his view in the case of dip-
lomatic protection exceptions were based only on treaties. 
Perhaps that also needed to be specified.

67. Mr. dUGaRd (special Rapporteur) pointed out that 
there was very little state practice aside from that relating 
to the protection of corporations. there had been cases 
where states had afforded protection to non-governmental 
organizations, such as to Greenpeace in the dispute with 
France over the destruction of a ship in auckland Har-
bour, but there was not enough state practice to be able to 
formulate general principles on the subject. For that rea-
son, emphasis should be placed on the protection of cor-
porations. the general provision to be drafted should lay 
down general principles to guide states in the diplomatic 
protection of legal persons other than corporations. the 
commission could not hope to cater for each and every 
situation.



�70 Summary records of the second part of the fifty-fifth session

68. Mr. MeLescanU said that, in principle, he en-
dorsed the idea of a broader provision on lex specialis to 
be worked out by the drafting committee, as suggested by 
the special Rapporteur. However, he was concerned that if 
the exercise was not carried out properly, some difficulties 
would be encountered in the interpretation of the provision 
at a later stage. the discussion on general and special provi-
sions had only just begun in the study Group on the Frag-
mentation of international Law. the drafting committee 
would therefore have to clearly define the contents, scope 
and application of the lex specialis provision.

69. Mr. BRoWnLie, referring to concerns expressed 
about the relative absence of state practice, said it could 
be held that the positions of delegations of states before 
international tribunals were a form of state practice. Para-
graph 119 of the report referred to the few pertinent deci-
sions of PciJ, and further research into the pleadings there 
might provide some state views. as for Mr. Melascanu’s 
remarks on the approach to follow, he pointed out that, 
for the purpose of progressive development, one needed 
something to work on before it could be developed. Per-
haps the commission need say no more with respect to 
article 2 than that there was some unfinished business to 
be done.

The meeting rose at 1 p.m.

2776th MEETING

Wednesday, 16 July 2003, at 10 a.m.

Chair: Mr. enrique candioti

Present: Mr. addo, Mr. Baena soares, Mr. Brownlie, 
Mr. chee, Mr. daoudi, Mr. dugard, Mr. economides, 
Ms. escarameia, Mr. Fomba, Mr. Gaja, Mr. Galicki, 
Mr. kabatsi, Mr. kamto, Mr. kateka, Mr. kemicha, 
Mr. kolodkin, Mr. koskenniemi, Mr. Mansfield, 
Mr. Matheson, Mr. Melescanu, Mr. Momtaz, Mr. niehaus, 
Mr. Pambou-tchivounda, Mr. sreenivasa Rao, Mr. 
Rodríguez cedeño, Mr. sepúlveda, Ms. Xue, Mr. 
Yamada.

The responsibility of international organizations 
 (concluded)* (A/CN.4/529, sect. E, A/CN.4/532,� 
 A/CN.4/L.632)

[agenda item 7]

report oF the DraFting committee

1. Mr. kateka (chair of the drafting committee), in-
troducing the drafting committee’s report on the respon-

* Resumed from the 2763rd meeting.
1 Reproduced in Yearbook … 2003, vol. ii (Part one).

sibility of international organizations (a/cn.4/L.632), 
said that in his first report (a/cn.4/532) the special 
Rapporteur had proposed three articles, all of which had 
been referred to the drafting committee. the latter had 
examined them and adopted three texts, an encouraging 
development which held out hope for the progress of the 
commission’s work on the topic. Following is the text of 
the draft articles adopted by the committee:

Article 1. Scope of the present draft articles

1. the present draft articles apply to the international 
responsibility of an international organization for an act 
that is wrongful under international law.

2. the present draft articles also apply to the inter-
national responsibility of a state for the internationally 
wrongful act of an international organization.

Article 2. Use of terms

For the purposes of the present draft articles, the term 
“international organization” refers to an organization es-
tablished by a treaty or other instrument governed by in-
ternational law and possessing its own international legal 
personality. international organizations may include as 
members, in addition to states, other entities.

Article 3. General principles

1. every internationally wrongful act of an interna-
tional organization entails the international responsibility 
of the international organization.

2. there is an internationally wrongful act of an in-
ternational organization when conduct consisting of an 
action or omission:

(a) is attributable to the international organization un-
der international law; and

(b) constitutes a breach of an international obligation 
of that international organization.

2. the topic was in fact a sequel to the draft articles on 
the responsibility of states for internationally wrongful 
acts adopted by the commission at its fifty-third session.2 
that did not mean that the commission would simply 
copy the articles on state responsibility, but rather that 
it would follow the basic trend that had taken shape in 
respect of that topic. However, when an article on the cur-
rent topic embodied the same legal principle as an article 
on state responsibility, the language should remain the 
same in order to avoid any confusion or ambiguity.

3. draft article 1, on the scope of the draft articles, was 
composed of two sentences which the drafting commit-
tee had preferred to separate and place in two different 
paragraphs.

4. Paragraph 1 corresponded to the first sentence of ar-
ticle 1 proposed by the special Rapporteur and had its 
origin in article 57 of the draft articles on state respon-
sibility for internationally wrongful acts. it indicated that 

2 see 2751st session, footnote 3.


	rpt_cover_page_english_master.pdf
	rpt_cover_page_english_master


